ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Lexington County

William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

SEP 05 2013

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND  
TREATMENT OF DUSTY A. CYR,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-211486  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court err in allowing the forensic expert, Dr. Peggy Wadman, to testify about the details of the sexually violent offenses that Appellant Cyr previously pled guilty to during his trial for commitment to the Sexually Violent Predator Program?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2005, Dusty Cyr pled guilty to three counts of committing a lewd act on a minor child. He was sentenced to ten years on each charge with all to run concurrently. See State's Exhibit 1-3. Prior to his release from incarceration, Cyr was referred to the Multidisciplinary Team to determine if there were probable cause that he met the requirements to be a sexually violent predator pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act, S.C. Code Section 44-48-30. Probable cause was found at each of the steps in the evaluation for the sexually violent predator program.

On April 9, 2012, Cyr proceeded to trial before the Honorable William P. Keesley who had granted Cyr's motion for a bench trial. Cyr was represented by Anna R. Good, and the state was represented by James G. Bogle. Judge Keesley found that Cyr was a sexually violent predator. Judge Keesley issued an order committing Cyr to the Sexually Violent Predator Program. Cyr's attorney filed an appeal. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing the forensic expert, Dr. Peggy Wadman, to testify about the details of the sexually violent offenses that Appellant Cyr previously pled guilty to during his trial for commitment to the Sexually Violent Predator Program.

At the beginning of Cyr's trial, defense counsel made a motion for a bench trial instead of a jury trial. She related that Cyr wanted a bench trial, and the state had not requested a jury trial within thirty days of the probable cause hearing as required by statute. R. 44, ll. 11 – 23.

The state argued that it was their standard practice to request a jury trial. R. 45, ll. 16 – R. 46, ll. 22. The judge stated that he did not have a demand for a jury trial in his file. R. 46, ll. 23 – 25. The judge granted Cyr's request for a bench trial. R. 50, ll. 14 – R. 51, ll. 7.

Dr. Peggy Wadman, the forensic psychiatrist who evaluated Cyr, testified at his trial, that Cyr had three convictions for committing a lewd act on a child. R. 57, ll. 4 – R. 61, ll. 25. While he was incarcerated on these three charges, he was indicted in the state of Connecticut for sexual assault in the first degree, and sexual assault in the second degree involving three young male relatives. These occurred when Cyr was approximately 12 – 14 years old. R. 71, ll. 2 – R. 72, ll. 15.

As Dr. Wadman started to describe the details of the six offenses, defense counsel objected to the details of the offenses being admitted. Counsel argued that the state had to prove only that he had the conviction, and that he suffered from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that would make him more likely to engage in sexually violent acts. Counsel argued that the details did not go to the fact of whether he had a mental abnormality

or personality disorder. The details only went towards prejudicing the judge about the facts of the case. R. 62, ll. 24 – R. 63, ll. 12.

The state argued that the Supreme Court held that the details were relevant and the prejudicial value was outweighed by the probative value under Rule 403, SCRE. The state also argued that the details were significant as the psychiatrist relied on these to make her evaluation. The state cited the cases of Luckabaugh and Ettel. R. 63, ll. 13 – R. 64, ll. 4.

Defense counsel argued in response that the indictments contained all the details that were needed for the doctor to make her evaluation. The trial judge overruled the objection. R. 64, ll. 6 – 14.

Dr. Wadman described the first incident as occurring in August 2000 when Cyr was approximately eighteen years old. R. 65, ll. 2 – 8; R. 87, ll. 19 – R. 88, ll. 1. The victim was a ten year old girl who told her mother that Cyr tried to put his hand down the back of her pants when he was baby-sitting her. Then on another occasion, he made her lay down and humped her. This was a guilty plea also. R. 67, ll. 1 – R. 68, ll. 19.

The second incident involved a five year old girl who was in a shed with Cyr who allegedly made the girl lay down. He then thrust his pelvis and genital area against her genital area. The girl said he “humped” her. Cyr pled guilty to this offense. R. 65, ll. 9 – 25; R. 12 – R. 67, ll. 15.

The third incident involved a seven year old girl whose aunt was Cyr’s girlfriend. The girl said that Cyr touched her genital area with her clothes on several times between July 1, 2004 and December 31, 2004. Cyr denied these allegations but said he gave her baths. R. 69, ll. 6 – 25.

The Connecticut incidents involved his sister's three sons ages three, four, and five. R. 71, ll. 14 – R. 72, ll. 18.

Dr. Wadman diagnosed Cyr as having a mental abnormality of pedophilia which is an attraction to prepubescent children. R. 106, ll. 16 – 23. She said he also suffered from a bipolar disorder. R. 107, ll. 1 – 25. She also diagnosed him as having an antisocial personality disorder. This meant that he exhibited behavior that included a disregard for the rights of others, failure to conform to social norms, and a lack of concern for the welfare of others. R. 108, ll. 14 – 22.

Dr. Wadman testified that Cyr met the legal criteria to be a sexually violent predator and was likely to commit future acts of sexual violence unless he was committed to a facility for long-term control, care, and treatment. R. 111, ll. 1 – 25.

The trial judge found that the state had established that Cyr met the criteria to be a sexually violent predator. R. 147, ll. 14 – R. 148, ll. 25.

The sexually violent predator act at S.C. Code Section 44-48-30 provides that a sexually violent predator had to have convicted of a sexually violent offense as provided in the statute and has a mental abnormality or personality disorder that would make him likely to commit sexually violent acts in the future unless he was committed to a facility for long-term care, control and treatment.

In the case of In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of James P. Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285 (Ct. App. 2008), the Court of Appeals ruled that prior incidents that did not result in a conviction could be admitted. The court ruled they were relevant and admissible. However, there was no discussion of whether the details of the offenses and incidents were at issue.

In the case of In re Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338 (2002), the Supreme Court ruled that the state did not prove that Luckabaugh was a sexually violent predator and remanded the case for a new hearing. The main issues dealt with the constitutionality of the SVP statute, and that the trial judge did not include sufficient facts in his order.

Cyr's case is distinguished from both as the issue of the details of the offense being admitted was not specifically addressed in either case with sufficient specificity