ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Lexington County
The Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-211486

RECEIVED

SEP 10 2013

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF
DUSTY CYR,

Appellant,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3797

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Lexington County
The Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-211486

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court properly allowed the State's expert witness to testify about details of Cyr's sexually violent offenses, because the offense details were significant to the expert's evaluation and conclusions on the issue of whether Cyr had a mental abnormality and/or personality disorder that made him likely to commit future acts of sexual violence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 5, 2005, Appellant Dusty Cyr (“Cyr”) pled guilty to three counts of lewd act on a child under sixteen. The charges arose from Cyr’s sexual molestation of a five year old female, a ten year old female, and a seven year old female. In addition, Cyr subsequently pled guilty in Connecticut to three counts of risk of injury to a child in connection with the sexual molestation of his three male nephews, ages three, four and five. (State’s Exhibits 1, 2, and 3; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 153-156, 157-160, 161-164).

In accordance with the Sexually Violent Predator Act (“SVP Act”), prior to Cyr’s release from incarceration, Respondent State of South Carolina (the “State”) commenced a civil commitment proceeding in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas on June 6, 2011. On October 13, 2011, the circuit court found probable cause to believe Cyr met the criteria for commitment as a sexually violent predator, and appointed Peggy C. Wadman, M.D., to conduct a mental health evaluation of Cyr. Dr. Wadman diagnosed Cyr with the mental abnormality of pedophilia, as well as anti-social personality disorder, and found he was a high risk to re-offend sexually, which met the criteria for commitment under the SVP Act. (TT, pp. 106-114; R., pp. 106-114).

The case was called for a jury trial on April 9, 2012, before the Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge. After the jury was selected, the circuit court granted Cyr’s motion for a bench trial. (TT, pp. 44-51; R., pp. 44-51).

Dr. Wadman testified for the State and was qualified as an expert in forensic psychiatry. (TT, pp. 55-57; R., pp. 55-57). As part of the evaluation, Dr. Wadman reviewed all the available documentation regarding Cyr’s criminal offenses, interviewed Cyr, and administered psychological tests designed to assess a sex offender’s risk of

re-offending. (TT, pp. 57-61; R., pp.57-61). She testified she relied on information regarding the details of Cyr's sexual offenses because it was "very important to understand exactly what happened with the victims, the nature of the offenses, and what actions Cyr took against [the victims]." (TT, p. 62; R., p. 62).

Cyr objected to Dr. Wadman testifying about the details of his criminal convictions on the ground the details were prejudicial. The State contended the evidence was necessary to show the expert's analysis, particularly what she considered significant in reaching her conclusions regarding Cyr's mental status. The circuit court overruled Cyr's objection, finding Dr. Wadman testified experts in her field rely on such information in doing evaluations. (TT, pp. 63-64; R., pp. 63-64).

Dr. Wadman testified the ten year old female victim reported Cyr put his hand down the back of her pants five or six times when he was baby-sitting her, and on more than one occasion he laid her down and "humped" her. During her interview with Cyr, he said he was "high," the victim "would sit on my lap and rub around," and [she] was rocking back and forth on me, and I'm only human." (TT, pp. 68-69, State's Exhibit 1; R., pp. 68-69, 153-156).

The five year old female victim reported she was in a shed with Cyr and another adult, and Cyr asked the other adult to leave. Cyr then made the victim lay down. and he thrust his pelvis and genital area against her genital area. Even though he pled guilty to the charge, Cyr told Dr. Wadman the incident did not happen. (TT, pp. 65-66, State's Exhibit 2; R., pp. 65-66, 157-160).

The seven year old female victim reported Cyr, who was the victim's aunt's boyfriend at the time, touched her genital area with his hand "more than once," and the

incidents occurred in her mother's bedroom. Again, even though he pled guilty to the charge, Cyr told Dr. Wadman he never touched the victim to get aroused, and denied fondling the victim's vaginal area. (TT, p. 69, State's Exhibit 3; R., pp.69, 161-164).

Dr. Wadman testified Cyr's accounts of the incidents during the interview were significant because he either denied or minimized his conduct, or blamed it on the victim. She stated this was a cognitive distortion used by pedophiles that needs to be addressed in treatment. (TT, p. 70; R., p. 70).

As to the Connecticut offenses, Dr. Wadman testified Cyr was originally charged with first degree and second degree sexual assault for conduct against his prepubescent nephews (three, four and five years old) between approximately 1996 to 1998. He pled guilty to three counts of risk of injury to a child, and was sentenced to fifteen years, suspended upon service of six years and fifteen years' probation, which was ordered to run concurrent with his 2005 South Carolina sentences. He admitted during the interview with Dr. Wadman that he molested the older two victims, but minimized his conduct with the youngest victim as "just consist[ing] of rubbing our things together," and "not an everyday thing." Dr. Wadman stated these offenses were significant because the victims were male, which increased Cyr's risk to re-offend "at least two-fold." (TT, pp. 71-73, 87-88, 105; R., pp. 71-73,87-88,105). She further testified Cyr failed to exhibit any appreciation for the harm he caused any of his victims. (TT, pp. 105-106; R., pp. 105-106).

Dr. Wadman testified Cyr had a significant history of non-sexual, anti-social and conduct disorder behavior, including fighting, gang activity, shoplifting, truancy, vandalism, animal cruelty, and burglaries. She stated his non-compliant behavior continued while he was incarcerated, resulting in at least twenty major disciplinary

infractions, including two for public exhibitionism and maturbation. Cyr told Dr. Wadman he made “some of the baddest knives in SCDC,” and records indicated he had five possession of weapons infractions while incarcerated. (TT, pp. 88-92; R., pp. 88-92).

Dr. Wadman also used an actuarial risk assessment instrument called the Static-99R, which is a ten item scale. Cyr had a score of six on that instrument, which put him in the high risk category for re-offending. Dr. Wadman testified his risk of re-offending was in the top two percent of male sex offenders who have been convicted of sex crimes. She stated the Static-99R was information she considered in addition to Cyr’s conduct in prison, and his lack of any sex offender treatment. (TT, pp. 93-94; R., pp. 93-94).

Based on all the information available to her, Dr. Wadman diagnosed Cyr with the mental abnormalities of pedophilia, non-exclusive type, and poly-substance dependence in a controlled environment, as well as a provisional diagnosis of bipolar disorder. She also testified he has anti-social personality disorder, which “puts him at increased risk to reoffend sexually.” (TT, pp. 106-108; R., pp. 106-108).

Dr. Wadman opined to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Cyr’s mental abnormalities and personality disorder pre-disposed him to commit future sexually violent offenses. She further stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Cyr’s propensity to commit future sexually violent offenses posed a menace to the health and safety of others, he had serious difficulty controlling his behavior, and he was likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long term control, care and treatment. (TT, pp. 109-111, 114; R., pp. 109-111, 114). She also specifically opined Cyr was not a candidate for out-patient sex offender treatment due to his lack of control over his substance abuse problems, his impulsivity, and his history of not

conforming to rules while incarcerated. (TT, p. 112; R., p. 112).

The circuit court found beyond a reasonable doubt that Cyr is a sexually violent predator. (TT, pp. 147-148; R., pp. 147-148). The circuit court then committed Cyr to the South Carolina Department of Mental Health for long term control, care and treatment. (Order of Commitment filed April 10, 2012; R., pp. 151). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly allowed the State's expert witness to testify about details of Cyr's sexually violent offenses, because the offense details were significant to the expert's evaluation and conclusions on the issue of whether Cyr had a mental abnormality and/or personality disorder that made him likely to commit future acts of sexual violence.

Cyr contends the circuit court erred in allowing Dr. Wadman to testify regarding the details of his sexually violent convictions. This contention is meritless.

The admissibility of evidence, including an expert's testimony, is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and the appellate court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009) (trial court's decision to admit or exclude testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion); State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (same); In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Manigo, 389 S.C. 96, 697 S.E.2d 629, 634 (Ct. App. 2011), (same); State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 652 S.E.2d 409, 415 (Ct. App. 2007) (same). An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law, or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. Fields v. Regional Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005); Manigo, 697 S.E.2d at 634; Rice, 652 S.E.2d at 415.

An expert witness may state an opinion based on facts not within her personal knowledge, and may base her opinion on information made available before the trial if it is of the type reasonably relied on in the particular field to make opinions. Manigo, 697 S.E.2d at 634 (*citing* Hundley ex rel. Hundley v. Rite Aid of S.C., Inc., 339 S.E. 285, 529 S.E.2d 45 [Ct. App. 2000]). The expert may also testify regarding hearsay for the purpose of showing what information she relied on in reaching an opinion. *Id.* See also Rule 703, SCRE (facts or data in the particular case on which an expert bases an opinion or inference

need not be admissible evidence if of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences).

In a sexual predator case, past criminal history is directly relevant to establishing the presence of a required sexually violent conviction, whether the person suffers from a relevant mental abnormality, and the person's propensity to commit acts of sexual violence. In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453-454 (2003); In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285, 287 (Ct. App. 2008). An expert may rely on the details of prior offenses in reaching an opinion on the person's mental status and propensity for future sexual violence. *See Corley*, 577 S.E.2d at 454 (expert testified details of past offense may show pattern of behavior indicating an increased risk to commit future offenses);¹ Ettel, 660 S.E.2d at 288 (details of prior unconvicted sexual offenses and murder conviction were admissible because the expert relied on them in reaching diagnosis of paraphilia, and evaluating person's need for and likelihood of success in treatment and ability to control his behavior).

In this case, Dr. Wadman testified the details of Cyr's offenses were a significant part of her evaluation, and she relied on them in developing her opinions regarding his mental abnormality, personality disorder and risk to re-offend sexually. In addition to reviewing the records, Dr. Wadman discussed each offense, including the details, with Cyr during the forensic interview, and testified his statements regarding the offenses provided further support for her opinions.

¹Cyr's contention the Supreme Court found in Corley that details beyond the face of the indictments were unnecessary is incorrect. The Court made no finding regarding the necessity of further details, which apparently were not offered at trial, but simply noted the details as presented in the indictments were not unduly prejudicial. 577 S.E.2d at 454.

Finally, Cyr alludes to the evidence as prejudicial, but fails to show how the details as presented were unduly prejudicial. To the extent the purported prejudicial nature of the testimony at issue is before the Court, any assessment of prejudice to Cyr must be viewed from the posture of a bench trial as opposed to a jury trial. “It is well-established that it is a near insurmountable burden for a defendant to prove prejudice in the context of a bench trial as a judge is presumed to disregard prejudicial or inadmissible evidence.” State v. Inman, 395 S.C. 539, 720 S.E.2d 31, 45 (2011).

This case was a bench trial at Cyr’s request, and his claims of prejudice must be assessed accordingly. The circuit court is presumed to have disregarded any unduly prejudicial evidence, and therefore, even if the testimony regarding the details of Cyr’s offenses was prejudicial, it does not warrant reversal of Cyr’s commitment as a sexually violent predator.

CONCLUSION